ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE LABOR AND COVMERCE STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 7, 2013
1:30 p. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator M ke Dunl eavy, Chair
Senator Peter Mcciche, Vice Chair
Senat or Donal d d son

Senat or Bert Stednan

MEMBERS ABSENT
Senat or Johnny Ellis
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO. 16

"An Act relating to the Board of Registration for Architects,
Engi neers, and Land Surveyors and to the Departnent of Commerce,
Communi ty, and Econom c Devel opnent . "

- HEARD & HELD
SENATE BI LL NO. 38
"An Act extending the termnation date of the State Medical
Board; and providing for an effective date.”
- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

BILL: SB 16
SHORT TI TLE. BD OF ARCHI TECTS, ENG NEERS, SURVEYORS
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(S) G ESSEL BY REQUEST

01/ 16/ 13 (S) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
01/ 16/ 13 (S) L&C, FIN

01/ 24/ 13 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
01/ 24/ 13 (S <Bi || Hearing Postponed>

02/ 07/ 13 (S L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 ( TSBI dg)
BILL: SB 38

SHORT TI TLE. EXTEND STATE MEDI CAL BOARD
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) OLSON

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -1- February 7, 2013



01/ 25/ 13 (S) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 25/ 13 (S) L&C, FIN
02/ 07/ 13 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 ( TSBI dg)

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR CATHY G ESSEL

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sponsor of SB 16.

COLI N MAYNARD, I|icensed engi neer

State Board of Registration for Architects, Engineers, and Land
Surveyors

Anchor age, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 16.

DON HABEGER, Director

Di vi sion of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing
Depart ment of Comrerce, Conmunity and Econom c Devel opnent

Anchor age, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided information and answered questions
on SB 16 and SB 38.

DALE NELSON, registered professional civil engineer
Legi sl ative Liaison Conmittee

Al aska Professional Design Council (APDC)

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 16.

JANET MATHESON, registered professional architect
American Institute Architects Al aska Chapter (Al AAC
Fai r banks, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 16.

DAVI D SCOTIT, staff

Senat or Donny O son

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Introduced SB 38 on behal f of the sponsor.

KRIS CURTIS, |egislative auditor

Di vision of Legislative Audit

Juneau, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 38 to report the findings
and recomrendations of the audit of the State Medi cal Board.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 2- February 7, 2013



ED HALL, President/Chair

St at e Medi cal Board

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 38.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

1: 30: 40 PM
CHAIR MKE DUNLEAVY called the Senate Labor and

Comrer ce

Standing Committee neeting to order at 1:30 p.m Present at the

call to order were Senators Stedman, d son, M cciche,
Dunl eavy.

SB 16-BD OF ARCHI TECTS, ENG NEERS, SURVEYORS

1: 30: 53 PM
CHAI R DUNLEAVY announced the consi deration of SB 16.

and Chair

SENATOR CATHY d ESSEL, sponsor of SB 16, introduced SB 16

speaking to the following sponsor st at enent :
punct uati on provided. ]

[Oiginal

SB 16 revi ses statutes gover ni ng architects,
engi neers, and land surveyors in Al aska, designating a

full-time investigator specifically for the
Board of Registration for Architects, Engineers,
Land Surveyors (AELS)

State

and

The AELS Board's mission, as defined in statute, is to
protect public health, safety and welfare by ensuring
that those entering the practices of architecture,
engi neering, and |and surveying neet m ninum standards
of conpetency, and namintain those standards during
their practice, by requiring licensure to practice in

the state. The Board enforces the |I|icensure

and

conpetency requirenments and responds to conplaints

brought by the public.

Currently, the AELS Board shares one part-

time

investigator with six other boards that oversee a
total of 18,095 licensees, of which 6,439 |icensees

are under the AELS Board.

According to the board, because of the negative
econom c conditions in various parts of the United

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 3- February 7, 2013



States, a significant nunber of <corporations and
individuals are relocating to Alaska and many are

practicing wthout proper licensure or know edge of
applicable statutes and regulations. In 2012 alone,
the AELS Board added 490 new licensees to its
over si ght.

In addition to the already growing workload for the
part-tinme AELS Board investigator, pressure on the
investigator to spend tinme on the other six boards to
which he is also assigned is increasing. The
efficiency and effectiveness of the State's licensing
investigation process is further reduced by only
having a single shared investigator who nust maintain
knowl edge of the various statutes and regul ations of
seven different boards.

SB 16 also renoves the constraint that exam nations

for Jlicensure be witten. Wth advancenments in
t echnol ogy, exanminations are noving to an electronic
format which will further increase efficiency.

SB 16 will better equip the AELS Board to nmaintain
proper oversight of its |icensees, thereby uphold the
reputation and integrity of the disciplines within its
purview, and ultimately ensure its ability to protect
public health, safety, and welfare.

SENATOR G ESSEL noted that in the last 18 nonths the AELS Board
opened 116 cases alleging unprofessional conduct, wunlicensed
practice or violation of I|icensing regulations. She referenced
the fiscal note and remnded the conmttee that regulatory
boards have to be self-supporting. Therefore, the costs of
operation including per di em travel expenses, and the

investigator, have to be covered by the licensees. The AELS
Board has some carry-forward funds to cover initial costs so
passage of the bill will not increase licensee fees this year.
Current license fees are $125 every two years and the estinmated
i ncrease, when enacted in two years, wll be mninal as the
costs will be spread over those 6,439 |icensees.

1:36:42 PM

SENATOR OLSON asked how she could justify adding two nore state
enpl oyees when there is a push to reduce the state's budget.

SENATOR O ESSEL explained that while the bill talks about two
persons, one is currently enployed as executive secretary and

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -4- February 7, 2013



the board already has a part-tine investigator. Al the costs

will be distributed anong the licensees under the jurisdiction
of the wvarious boards. This wll not increase the state's
budget .

1:38: 17 PM

SENATOR OLSON pointed out that the fiscal note reflects costs of
$115,500 in FY14 and $110,500 each year thereafter until FY19
He asked if he was m sreadi ng the note.

SENATOR G ESSEL responded that the fiscal note includes costs
for supplies, one-tine start up fees, and a conputer but the
cost for personnel wll be covered by boards. She deferred
techni cal questions to M. Habeger, the director of the Division
of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing.

SENATOR M CCI CHE how many i ndividuals are |icensed.

SENATOR G ESSEL replied there are slightly nore than 6,400 in
the AELS Board. She added that 18,000 licensees right now are
covered by just one investigator.

SENATOR M CCICHE calculated that this would add approxi mately
$20 per person with nuch better service and less liability to
t he departnent.

SENATOR d ESSEL agreed and added that it's for two years.

SENATOR OLSON asked how nmany violations the  half-tine
i nvestigator had encountered and how many resulted in fines.

SENATOR G ESSEL replied that 116 cases were opened in the |ast
18 nont hs.

1:40: 22 PM

COLI N MAYNARD, |icensed engi neer representing the State Board of
Regi stration for Architects, Engineers, and Land Surveyors,
explained the conditions that led to the bill. About four or
five years ago there were tw and one-half persons to
investigate cases for six boards. Through attrition that has
been reduced to the equivalent of one-sixth of one investigator
for the AELS Board. The workload is heavy; 13 cases have been
opened in the last quarter and the investigator now oversees
requirenents for nine new engineering disciplines. Wth the
econom ¢ downturn in the Lower 48, wunlicensed practices have
increased in the state but the workload generally keeps the
investigator attached to the Anchorage office wth occasional

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -5- February 7, 2013



trips to the Mat-Su Valley and Kenai Peninsula. The positive
i npact of having one investigator assigned to the AELS Board is
that all areas of +the state wll see investigations. He
hi ghlighted that the cost of the investigator would be borne by
licensee fees and that he hadn't heard from any professional
societies that were unwilling to pay the additional $20 over two
years to ensure that licensing | aws are enforced.

MR. MAYNARD said the bill also anends the statute to renove
reference to a “"witten exam nation” to reflect t hat
exam nations are noving to electronic format. The architects
have not had a witten exam nation for several years and the
fundanmental s of engineering exam will be electronic starting in
April 2014. He noted that one person conplained that he failed
the licensing test because he was not given the opportunity to
take a witten test.

1:43:51 PM

DON HABEGER, Director, Division of Corporations, Business and
Prof essional Licensing, Departnent of Commerce, Comunity and
Econom ¢ Devel opnent (DCCED), offered to answer questions.

SENATOR OLSON asked how he justified the recurring six-digit
cost of the bill when state revenues were declining.

MR. HABEGER said the sponsor's testinobny was correct; |icensee
fees cover the cost of the services. By statute, the division is
required to annually review the prograns and | ook at revenues
and expenses before adjusting the fees. He noted that the
correct term nology was fee-supported services.

SENATOR OLSON pointed out that the licensee fees would not cover
the [$115,500 first year cost and $110,500 out-year estimated
cost s].

MR. HABECER responded that the fees would be adjusted at the
next |icensing cycle to capture the additional expenses.

SENATOR OLSON asked how many fines were |evied conpared to the
nunber of cases fil ed.

MR. HABEGER offered to follow up with the information
1:47: 36 PM
SENATOR OLSON asked if he wuld agree that adding an

i nvestigator would increase the nunber of filings and add to the
costs that |icensees would have to shoul der.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 6- February 7, 2013



MR. HABEGER agreed and then noted that the line item for
"services" in t he fiscal not e anti ci pat ed addi ti ona
expenditures for expert wtnesses and use of the Departnent of
Law. He established that the investigators are experts in the
statutes and regulations; they are not necessarily experts in
the subject matter.

SENATOR COLSON asked if he anticipated that nore people would
fail the conputerized tests.

MR. HABEGER expl ai ned that the AELS board belongs to a nunber of
national associations that develop tests wth expertise from
various license practices across the nation. These national
tests, which are contracted through state boards, are tailored
for the specific jurisdiction. The tests are admnistered by
conputer at designated testing sites.

SENATOR OLSON asked if soneone in None could take the test at a
hub site.

MR. HABEGER offered to follow up with an answer.

SENATOR M CClI CHE asked to have M. Maynard return to the wtness
table to answer Senator O son's questions.

1:51: 21 PM
MR. MAYNARD expl ained that the AELS Board is a nenber of three
national |icensing associations that wite national tests for

engi neers and surveyors, architects, and |andscape architects.
These tests are given twce a year in Anchorage and Fairbanks at
secure testing sites. This will not change when all the tests
are conputerized because there are too few registrants in other
| ocations. He confirnmed that sonebody from None who wanted to
take the test would have to go to either Anchorage or Fairbanks.
He reiterated that these are national tests and the conputer
exam is not nore difficult than the witten exam they're
witten by the sane people.

SENATOR COLSON asked for clarification that both witten and
conputerized tests were admnistered only in Anchorage or
Fai r banks.

MR. MAYNARD sai d yes.

1: 53: 22 PM

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -7- February 7, 2013



DALE NELSON, registered professional civil engineer, Legislative
Liaison Conmmttee, Alaska Professional Design Council (APDC)
Anchorage, AK, testified in support of SB 16. He said this
| egi sl ation has been discussed in the commttees and the APDC
newsl etter. He <confirned that the nenbers wunderstand that
license fees would increase if this bill were to pass.

SENATOR OLSON asked how nmany of the 6,500 |icensees were opposed
to this |egislation.

MR. NELSON replied he had heard no opposition.

1:55:59 PM

JANET MATHESON, registered professional architect, American
Institute Architects Alaska Chapter (AIAAC), Fairbanks, AK,

testified in support of SB 16. She said AIAAC feels there is
need for a full-tinme investigator. People cone to Al aska and
want comty registration only to find that they have to know
Arctic and seismc engineering. She highlighted that when
sonmeone chooses to work outside their discipline there are
i ssues of public safety. Another problem is that outside firns
sonetinmes acquire projects in the state but do not have people
who are registered in Alaska. She continued that it's also a
problem that the investigator is only concentrating on the
Anchorage Bow , which |eaves other areas of the state w thout an
i nvestigator. She nmaintained that Al aska should stay up to date
on its exam nations, and pointed out that all the professiona

architect tests were el ectronic.

1:58: 06 PM
CHAI R DUNLEAVY announced that he would hold SB 16 in commttee
and keep public testinony open.

SB  38- EXTEND STATE MEDI CAL BOARD

1:58:22 PM

CHAI R DUNLEAVY announced t he consi deration of SB 38.

1:58: 47 PM

DAVID SCOIT, staff to Senator Donny O son, sponsor of SB 38,
said this bill extends the termnation date of the State Medi cal
Board wuntil June 30, 2020. This 1is an eight-nmenber board

appoi nted by the governor and approved by the |egislature. Five
menbers are physicians, one is a physician assistant, and two
are public nmenbers. This regulatory board |icenses and regul ates
ost eopat hs, paranedics, physicians, physician assistants, and
podi atri sts.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 8- February 7, 2013



He noted that, board president Ed Hall, a representative from
Legi sl ative Budget and Audit, and M. Habeger from the conmerce
department were avail able to answer questions.

2:00: 04 PM

SENATOR M CCICHE noted that the fiscal note referenced both an
ei ght-nmenber board and a five-nenber board. He asked which
nunber was correct.

MR. SCOIT answered that the statute says the board has eight
nmenbers. He deferred further explanation to M. Habeger who
prepared the fiscal note.

SENATOR OLSON clarified that the State Medical Board has eight
menbers.

SENATOR M CCICHE said the fiscal note should be corrected; the
anal ysis describes travel expenses and per diem for a five-
menber board and staff.

2:01: 40 PM
At ease

2:02: 08 PM
SENATOR OLSON suggested that M. Harbinger could address Senator
M cci che's questi on.

SENATOR M CCl CHE asked if State Medical Board nenbers were paid.

MR. SCOIT answered no; they receive a travel and per diem
al | owance.

2:03:18 PM
DON HABEGER, Director, Division of Corporations, Business and
Prof essi onal Licensing, Departnent of Commerce, Conmunity and
Econom ¢ Devel opnment (DCCED), agreed to correct the error in the
fiscal note.

SENATOR M CCI CHE asked if nenber costs in the $40,000 range were
typi cal, because it seened high.

MR. HABEGER said the State Medical Board is unique from the
standpoint that it doesn't choose to centralize in one of the
maj or communities. The Medical Board twice a year neets in
Anchor age, Fairbanks, and Juneau and twi ce a year neets in rural
communities |ike Nonme. He relayed that the only time he asked

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -9- February 7, 2013



the board to rethink their travel plans was when they asked to
go to Dutch Harbor.

2: 05: 25 PM

KRIS CURTIS, legislative auditor, D vision of Legislative Audit,
informed the committee that the agency conducted a sunset audit
of the State Medical Board during 2012. The audit concl uded that
the board was serving the public's interest by effectively
licensing and regulating osteopaths, paranedics, physicians,
physi ci an assistants, and podiatrists, and recommended extendi ng
the board's termnation date to June 30, 2020. This is one year
|l ess than the statutory maximum in recognition of a new finding
that the Division of Corporations, Business and Professional
Li censing (DCPBL) staff failed to review continuing nedical
education requirenents in accordance wth regulation, which
require review of five percent of |icensees during each biannua
licensing cycle. DCPBL reviewed only four percent of |icensees
and the audit therefore reconmended the division nmeet the
m ni mum requi red by regul ati on.

The audit also nade two continuing recommendations to the board.
The first was associated wth deficiencies in DCPBL'Ss
investigative case nanagenent system Key information was
m ssing such as priority codes, case open dates, and resolution
codes. She noted that DCPBL had taken steps to address the issue
by formng a task force to identify necessary corrective action.

The final ongoing recommendation was to inplenent procedures to
ensure reporting of board disciplinary actions to national data
banks within 30 days, in accordance with state and federal [|aw
The 2012 audit found inprovenment in overall reporting of
di sciplinary actions, but tineliness continued to be an issue

The Departnent of Commerce, Conmmunity and Econom ¢ Devel opnent
(DCCED) and State Medical Board concurred wth all t he
reconmmendat i ons.

2: 08: 40 PM
SENATOR COLSON asked how Al aska's license renewal requirenents
for physicians conpared to other states.

M5. CURTIS said there were no findings on continuing education
but it had not been a problemin the past for the Medical Board.
She noted that sone other boards had problenms wth their
continui ng education not neeting national standards.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -10- February 7, 2013



SENATOR COLSON comrented that it was an issue that only four
percent of |icensees were reviewed when regulation required five
per cent .

M5. CURTIS clarified that it was a DCBPL staff issue, not a
Medi cal Board i ssue.

SENATOR OLSON asked if the audit found that the case managenent
deficiencies conprom sed patient care.

M5. CURTIS answered that the audit did not find any instance of
t hat .

SENATOR OLSON asked if the disciplinary actions were reported
after the 30-day deadline or if the national data banks failed
to post the reports in a tinmely manner.

M5. CURTIS replied that the audit found that DCBPL staff did not
submt the reports within the tinefrane.

2:11:19 PM

ED HALL, President/Chair and physician assistant, State Medica
Board, Anchorage, AK, testified in support of SB 38 to extend
t he sunset date of the State Medical Board to 2020.

SENATOR OLSON asked if he agreed with the seven-year extension
as opposed to the eight years allowed under statute.

MR. HALL responded that he agreed with the seven-year extension
in light of the findings in the sunset audit. He noted that the
executive admnistrator had primary oversight of reporting so
t he board woul d be in conpliance.

SENATOR OLSON thanked M. Hall and the other nenbers of the
board for their service.

2:13:49 PM
CHAI R DUNLEAVY announced he would hold SB 38 and keep public
testinony open.

2:14:18 PM

There being no further business to conme before the commttee
Chair Dunl eavy adjourned the neeting at 2:14 p. m

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -11- February 7, 2013



